ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

NOV 18 2013

Appeal from Richland County

G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

EDWARD M. DUNN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2012-212242

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to suppress all evidence flowing from the retention and subsequent usage of appellant's DNA profile, which was taken when he was a juvenile and maintained in a database not authorized by state law, exceeded the scope of the contractual consent given by appellant, and was otherwise illegal under state law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During its July 2011, term, a Richland County grand jury indicted Edward Maurice Dunn, Jr. ("Dunn") for armed robbery, kidnapping, first-degree burglary, and assault with intent to commit first-degree criminal sexual conduct. Prior to trial, appellant filed a motion to suppress DNA evidence and any evidence deriving from use of his DNA. R.343. On May 21 – 24, 2012, appellant was tried before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. and a jury. R. 1. Margaret Fent-Bodman and Foster Matthews represented the State. R. 1. Victor Li and Deon O'Neil represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant of kidnapping, armed robbery, and first-degree burglary. R. 330, ll. 11 – 22. The jury acquitted appellant of assault with intent to commit first-degree criminal sexual conduct. R. 330, ll. 6 – 10. Judge Cooper sentenced appellant to thirty years' imprisonment on all charges. R. 333, ll. 21 – 24. On May 29, 2012, appellant filed and served a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in refusing to suppress all evidence flowing from the retention and subsequent usage of appellant's DNA profile, which was taken when he was a juvenile and maintained in a database not authorized by state law, exceeded the scope of the contractual consent given by appellant, and was otherwise illegal under state law.

Relevant Facts

The Richland County Sheriff's Department ("Sheriff") keeps its own DNA database. R. 9, ll. 23 – 25. Dunn was a suspect in an unrelated burglary committed September 20, 2010, which was a year before the incident giving rise to the charges for which Dunn was tried in this case. R. 8, ll. 14 – 16. The Sheriff obtained Dunn's DNA profile in connection with the 2010 burglary. R. 8, ll. 17 – 24. The Sheriff obtained Dunn's DNA pursuant to his consent. R. 74, ll. 2 – 5. Dunn signed the Sheriff's consent form. R. 74, ll. 9 – 15; R. 341. The Sheriff told Dunn they needed a sample of his DNA to compare it to the DNA samples they obtained from the 2010 burglary. R. 78, ll. 12 – 15. Dunn was told by the Sheriff that giving his sample could "possibly help him" in that case. R. 82, ll. 5 – 10. Dunn's DNA profile did not match the samples from the 2010 burglary. R. 79, ll. 8 – 14.

The Sheriff admitted that no one told Dunn that his profile would be placed in the Sheriff's own database (or any other database). R. 78, ll. 16 – 21. Dunn's DNA profile was, in fact, placed in the Sheriff's own in-house database. R. 79, ll. 20 – 25. At the time Dunn signed the Sheriff's consent form and gave his DNA, he was sixteen years old. R. 80, ll. 1 – 2.

Dunn moved to suppress this DNA evidence and any evidence flowing from it and the court held a pretrial hearing on this motion. R. 343. Dunn testified at the pretrial hearing. Dunn testified that no one told him that his DNA profile would be entered and maintained in the Sheriff's DNA lab. R. 84, ll. 6 – 9. Had the Sheriff told Dunn they were going to store his DNA, he would not have given it to them. R. 84, ll. 13 – 15. The Sheriff specifically told Dunn that he was going to use the swab to compare it to the 2010 burglary. R. 86, ll. 21 – 24. Dunn testified that the only reason he gave them his DNA was to compare it to the samples obtained from the scene of the 2010 burglary. R. 87, ll. 8 – 14. Dunn also testified that the only reason he gave the police a statement concerning his involvement in the instant crimes was because they told him they had a DNA match. R. 87, ll. 21 – 24. The State did not present any evidence as to whether Dunn was ever charged in connection with the 2010 burglary.

The DNA consent form used by the Sheriff had no warning that the Sheriff was free to use his profile for any purpose whatsoever. R. 89, ll. 12 – 23; R. 341. The Sheriff's form did not notify Dunn that his DNA would be maintained in the Sheriff's own database or any other database. R. 89, l. 12 – 123, l. 11; R. 341.

The only way the Sheriff connected Dunn with the charges in this case was because seminal fluid was located at this crime scene. R. 18, ll. 1– 5. The Sheriff sequenced the DNA from the crime scene and matched it to Dunn's profile in the Sheriff's database. R. 18, ll. 1 – 5; R. 233, l. 8 – 234, l. 4. After making the DNA match, the Sheriff arrested Dunn. R. 17, ll. 4 – 19. Immediately after his arrest, the Sheriff told Dunn about the DNA match and gave Dunn his Miranda warnings. R. 17, l. 20 – 18, l. 8.

Only after his arrest and being confronted with the DNA evidence did Dunn give a statement implicating himself. R. 19, l. 13 – 20, l. 9. Dunn told the police that a man named “Shorty” asked him to participate in the burglary of a woman’s house. R. 19, ll. 13 – 21. Dunn was the lookout. R. 19, ll. 22 – 24. Shorty called Dunn into the house. R. 19, ll. 22 – 24. Dunn saw Shorty having sexual intercourse with a woman. R. 19, l. 25 – 20, l. 4. Dunn told the police “that he became excited by that act and that he masturbated, ejaculated and then used a rag that was on the floor to wipe himself.” R. 20, ll. 1 – 4. The seminal fluid from this rag was used to obtain a DNA profile and compared to the DNA profile given by Dunn in connection with the 2010 robbery.

Dunn filed a pretrial motion to suppress this DNA evidence. R. 343. In the pretrial motion, Dunn alleged that the retention of his DNA sample violated the Federal and South Carolina constitutions. R. 343. Dunn also argued in the motion and before the court that the retention of his DNA sample exceeded the scope of any alleged consent. R. 88, ll. 7 – 97, l. 9; R. 103, l. 69 – 115, l. 12. Dunn further argued that any other evidence in the case was fruit of the poisonous tree and should be suppressed. R. 88, ll. 7 – 97, l. 9; R. 103, l. 69 – 115, l. 12. Stating that he would leave this issue “for another court to decide,” Judge Cooper denied the suppression motion and ruled that the DNA results were admissible.¹ R. 114, ll. 11–21.

¹ This was a final ruling. During the defense’s opening statement, Dunn was forced by this ruling to admit to the jury that he was present at the scene and that he was guilty of burglary and armed robbery. R. 125, l. 1 – 126, l. 5. He denied the sexual assault and the jury acquitted him of it. Dunn also made contemporaneous objections to the admission of the 2010 DNA profile. R. 200, ll. 16 – 22; R. 219, ll. 12 – 24; R. 339, ll. 1 – 6.

Discussion

Without his consent, Dunn's DNA—taken when he was a juvenile—was kept in a database whose existence violated state law. The retention of Dunn's DNA in this database violated the terms of the contract giving consent, Dunn's Fourth Amendment rights, his rights under the South Carolina Constitution, and state law concerning the collection and retention of DNA. Since the only evidence linking Dunn to this crime was obtained from a comparison with his illegally retained DNA, it should have been suppressed. Any evidence that followed was fruit of the poisonous tree and also should have been suppressed.

The Contract for Taking Dunn's DNA in 2010 was Voided and Illegal

The State's case relied solely on the taking of Dunn's DNA for an unrelated robbery in 2010. The solicitor admitted this in his opening statement. R. 120, ll. 8 – 12. This taking of Dunn's DNA was done solely by consent, so it should be analyzed under contract principles and not those used to validate taking of DNA by warrant, pursuant to arrest, or any other such procedure. Dunn's consideration for the contract was the giving of his DNA to test and exculpate him from a burglary. The Sheriff's consideration was the promise to test his DNA to compare it to DNA collected *at that crime*.

At no point did the State show that Dunn gave consent exceeding the contract described above. The form signed by Dunn does not inform him that his DNA will be placed in a database for all eternity. Since this form was drafted by the Sheriff, it should be narrowly construed against the Sheriff. Davis v. KB Home, 394 S.C. 116, 129 n.4, 713 S.E.2d 799, 806 n.4 (Ct. App. 2011). As Dunn argued at the motion to suppress, any other use of Dunn's DNA was beyond the scope of this contract and illegal.

The case relied on by the solicitor and the trial court actually supports Dunn's position. State v. McCord, 349 S.C. 477, 562 S.E.2d 689 (Ct. App. 2002). In McCord, the defendant gave a blood sample to the FBI in an unrelated case "pursuant to a written consent form." Id. at 483, 562 S.E.2d at 692. The consent form stated that the FBI could use the blood sample "for whatever purpose the [FBI] may see fit." Id. This Court held that the defendant lost his expectation of privacy in the blood sample when he gave it to federal authorities "without any limitation on the scope of his consent." Id. at 485, 562 S.E.2d at 693. Unlike McCord, the Sheriff's consent form contains no such broad language. Therefore, Dunn's consent must be narrowly construed as only for the limited purpose of exculpating him from the 2010 burglary. The Sheriff had no contractual right to keep Dunn's DNA past the time necessary to test it in connection with that burglary.

Dunn Never Ratified the Contract as an Adult

The retention of Dunn's DNA was also illegal because the contract granting the Sheriff permission to use it was voidable by Dunn. It is undisputed that Dunn gave his consent prior to turning eighteen, the age of majority. S.C. Const. art. XVII, § 14. As such, any consent given by him was voidable after Dunn attained the age of majority. Little v. Duncan, 9 Rich. 55, 43 S.C.L. 55, 1855 WL 3189 (S.C. Ct. App. 1855). A "child" is any

person under the age of eighteen. S.C. Code Ann. § 63-1-40(1). Contracts made before the age of majority are not deemed ratified unless done so in writing. S.C. Code Ann. § 63-5-310. At no point did the State present any evidence that Dunn ratified the contract taking his DNA in 2010. To the contrary, when Dunn discovered that his DNA had been kept, he asked that it be suppressed. R. 341; R. 341. Therefore, Dunn voided the contract and Sheriff was not in legal possession of his DNA.

To the extent the Court chooses to analyze this case under traditional waiver principles, the totality of the circumstances shows that Dunn did not knowingly and voluntarily waive his privacy rights in his DNA profile. Dunn could not knowingly and voluntarily waive a right of which he was not aware. The Sheriff admitted it did not inform him that his DNA profile would be maintained in their database. With no evidence in the record that Dunn knew about the maintenance of his profile, it would be an error of law to find that the State proved Dunn made a knowing and voluntary waiver. See State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 379-81, 652 S.E.2d 444, 448-50 (Ct. App. 2007) (applying totality of the circumstances test to voluntariness of statement made while in custody).

The Sheriff is Maintaining an Illegal Database

Finally, even if the State could somehow show that Dunn consented to the Sheriff retaining his DNA, such a contract would be void *ab initio* as an illegal contract. The Sheriff has no authority to maintain its own database of citizens' DNA. The sole repository of citizens' DNA profiles is SLED. See S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-600 *et seq.* (the "State DNA Database Act"). The State DNA Database Act was enacted in 1994. Id. The State DNA Database Act prevents the collection of DNA samples from juveniles

unless they are adjudicated delinquent or ordered to do so by a court. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-620(2). The State presented no evidence that Dunn was adjudged delinquent with respect to the 2010 burglary or that he was ordered to give his DNA by a court.

Any DNA analysis must comport with the standards used by the FBI. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-640(A). The samples “must” be securely stored by SLED unless SLED designates another laboratory to maintain them whose standards are at least as stringent as SLED’s. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-640(D). The State DNA Database Act makes it clear that SLED is responsible for maintaining DNA profiles and determining whether someone’s DNA profile shall be stored in the state database. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-650(A) and (B).

This comprehensive regulation of the retention of citizens’ DNA profiles preempts any attempt by local governments to create their own databases. Local authorities are preempted by state law from acting in areas that are comprehensively regulated by the state. See Barnhill v. City of North Myrtle Beach, 333 S.C. 482, 486 n.2, 511 S.E.2d 361, 363 n.2 (1999) (noting that state regulation of motorized watercraft on navigable waters preempted any local encroachment in this area).

The Attorney General agrees with this conclusion. See Attorney General Op. dated April 7, 2011, 2011 WL 1740752. The Attorney General stated, “Reviewing the language and purposes of the Act, there appears very little doubt the Legislature intended SLED, as the chief investigative agency in South Carolina, to implement and administer the collection of DNA samples.” Id. “Given that the Legislature expressly empowered SLED to administer the collection of DNA samples, it is the opinion of this office that a

DNA collection program outside the parameters of the Act would be inconsistent with the legislative intent for uniformity in this area and is impliedly preempted.” Id.

Appellant agrees with the Attorney General that the Sheriff cannot collect and maintain its own DNA database. The Sheriff had no authority to create its own database. SLED is the sole entity allowed to maintain a database of citizens’ DNA in this state.² As the Sheriff’s database was illegally maintained, any contract that Dunn purportedly entered into allowing the Sheriff to maintain his profile is illegal and *void ab initio*.

Furthermore, retention of Dunn’s DNA profile was an express violation of the State DNA Database Act. The act makes SLED responsible for the expungement of citizens’ profiles from the database. S.C. Code Ann. 23-3-660. If the charges against a person are nolle prossed, then their DNA record and profile must be expunged. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-660(A)(1)(a). Court’s Exhibit 9 is a copy of Dunn’s juvenile record. (Court’s Ex. 9). It only shows one burglary charge, dated September 20, 2010. (Court’s Ex. 9). Dunn’s DNA consent form is dated September 21, 2010. R. 341. This burglary charge was nolle prossed. (Court’s Ex. 9). Therefore, Dunn’s DNA profile should have been expunged.

² The State’s DNA expert and the investigator admitted that the Sheriff even keeps **victims’** DNA profiles in its database. R. 360, l. 12 – 361, l. 3; R. 384, ll. 7 – 12.

This conclusion is further bolstered by the South Carolina Constitution's express right of privacy. S.C. Const. Art. I, § 10. The Sheriff's creation of its own DNA database is an "unreasonable invasion" of Dunn's privacy. Id. It is therefore not only in contravention of the State DNA Database Act, but also the state constitution. The Fourth Amendment of the federal constitution also compels this result. See United States v. Davis, 690 F.3d 226 (4th Cir. 2012). In Davis, the Fourth Circuit found that retention of an individual's DNA profile in Maryland's database violated the Fourth Amendment. Id. at 250.

Nor does the United States Supreme Court's recent decision in Maryland v. King, ___ U. S. ___ 133 S.Ct. 1958 (2013) compel a different result. King, a 5-4 decision, merely upheld Maryland's state law authorizing the collection of arrested persons' DNA for identification purposes. Here, there is no evidence that Dunn's DNA was collected pursuant to any booking procedure or for identification purposes. The only evidence in the record is that Dunn signed a consent form for the Sheriff to collect his DNA. Therefore, King is inapplicable.

In any event, this Court should decline to adopt any of the King majority's reasoning on state law grounds. Justice Scalia, in a scathing dissent, eviscerated the majority's basis for its ruling. Justice Scalia said the majority's ruling departed from longstanding Fourth Amendment precedent that required some measure of individualized suspicion for an invasive search. Id. at 1981-82 Certainly the South Carolina Constitution's right to privacy would lead our appellate courts to agree with Justice Scalia and restrict the collection and retention of South Carolinians' DNA. See State v. Koivu, 272 P.3d 483, 488-89 (Id. 2012) (rejecting application of the good faith exception