5

**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED  
NOV 18 2013  
SC COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-212242

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT

v.

EDWARD M. DUNN, .....APPELLANT.

\_\_\_\_\_  
**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**Appellant's argument that the trial court erred in refusing to suppress all evidence flowing from the retention and use of his DNA profile to match seminal fluid discovered at the crime scene is not preserved for appellate review because the specific grounds argued on appeal were neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court, and even if preserved, the evidence was properly admitted because Appellant's expectation of privacy in his saliva sample and the DNA contained therein was extinguished when he voluntarily consented to give the sample to State authorities without any limitation on the scope of his consent.**

Appellant argues the trial court erred in refusing to suppress all evidence flowing from the retention and subsequent use of his DNA profile because his DNA was taken when he was juvenile and maintained in a database not authorized by state law, and because this use exceeded the scope of his "contractual consent." His argument hinges on the premise that the taking and use of his DNA should be analyzed under contract principles rather than under a standard Fourth Amendment exclusionary rule analysis. Appellant argues: (1) the sheriff had no "contractual right" to keep his DNA past the time necessary to test it in connection with the 2010 burglary because the "contract" to provide a DNA sample was limited solely to the sheriff's investigation of that burglary; (2) the "contract" is voidable because he made it prior to turning eighteen and never ratified it after reaching the age of majority; and (3) the "contract" is void *ab initio* as an illegal contract because the sheriff has no authority to maintain its own DNA database where the sole repository of citizens' DNA profiles is maintained by the State Law Enforcement Division (SLED) pursuant to the State DNA Database Act.

### Issue Preservation

Initially, the State submits Appellant's argument is not preserved for appellate review because it was not specifically raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. State v. Brown, 402 S.C. 119, 125 n.2, 740 S.E.2d 493, 496 n.2 (2013) (describing the four basic requirements for preserving issues at trial for appellate review, including the requirement that the issue must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court); State v. Policao, 402 S.C. 547, 556, 741 S.E.2d 774, 778 (Ct. App. 2013) ("The general rule of issue preservation is if an issue was not raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, it will not be considered for the first time on appeal."); State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003). The South Carolina Rules of Evidence provide that:

Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected, **and . . .** In case the ruling is one admitting evidence, **a timely objection or motion to strike appears of record, stating the specific ground of objection**, if the specific ground was not apparent from the context.

Rule 103, SCRE (emphasis added). This rule is generally in accord with prior South Carolina law which requires a contemporaneous objection with specific grounds to preserve an error for review. State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 446, 710 S.E.2d 55, 59 (2011) ("An objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error."); State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386, 440 S.E.2d 869 (1994) (finding that a contemporaneous objection is required to preserve an issue for appellate review); State v. Bailey, 253 S.C. 304, 170 S.E.2d 376 (1969) (holding that specific grounds are required and that a general objection preserves nothing).

At trial, Appellant articulated two grounds in support of his motion to suppress. First he claimed he did not voluntarily consent to giving the DNA sample. Second he

claimed even if the consent was voluntary, the use of the DNA sample in the subsequent criminal investigation was outside the scope of his consent. Appellant argued that since the DNA match should be suppressed, all other evidence obtained as a result of that match would be fruit of the poisonous tree, and should also be suppressed. He handed up a written motion in support of the argument which was marked as Court's Exhibit No. 2. (R.p.11, line 8-p.12, line 6). Appellant never argued his consent to give the DNA sample should be analyzed under contract principles and he never mentioned the word "contract" in his written motion to suppress. He also did not argue the Richland County database itself was illegal. (R.p.343). As a result, the trial court was not given an opportunity to make a ruling about the propriety of an analysis under contract law or the specific contract grounds raised by Appellant in this appeal. Likewise, the trial court was deprived of the opportunity to consider the underlying legality of the Richland County DNA database. Instead, the trial court reviewed Appellant's motion to suppress under traditional Fourth Amendment principles, denied that motion, and ruled the DNA results were admissible. (R.p.103, line 18-p.114, line 21). Because the argument and grounds now raised in this appeal were neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court, they are not preserved for review. Rule 103, SCRE; Brown, supra; Byers, supra; Bailey, supra.

To the extent this Court finds Appellant's current argument is adequately preserved for review, the State nonetheless submits it is without merit because Appellant's underlying premise is flawed. A motion to suppress evidence on grounds it was taken without consent, or that its use exceeded the scope of the consent that was given, falls squarely within the ambit of the Fourth Amendment and its prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures. Thus, the trial court properly considered

Appellant's motion to suppress under a traditional Fourth Amendment analysis, and appropriately applied that analysis before deciding to admit the DNA evidence.

#### Standard of Review

In criminal cases, an appellate court sits to review only errors of law, and it is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 87, 736 S.E.2d 263, 265 (2012), cert. denied, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 133 S. Ct. 2779 (2013); State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006); State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); State v. Manning, 400 S.C. 257, 264, 734 S.E.2d 314, 317 (Ct. App. 2012). The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. Brown, 401 S.C. at 87, 736 S.E.2d at 265; State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 121, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. Brown, 401 S.C. at 87, 736 S.E.2d at 265; State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 477-78, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011); State v. Morris, 376 S.C. 189, 205-06, 656 S.E.2d 359, 368 (2008). The appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829. Thus, when reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm the trial court's ruling if there is any evidence to support it; the appellate court may reverse only for clear error. Brown, 401 S.C. at 87, 736 S.E.2d at 265; State v. Missouri, 361 S.C. 107, 111, 603 S.E.2d 594, 596 (2004); State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 95-96, 623 S.E.2d 840, 846 (Ct. App. 2005).

### Law / Analysis

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution protects people from unreasonable searches and seizures and provides that no warrants shall be issued except upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation and particularly describing the place to be searched and the persons or things to be seized. U.S. Const. amend. IV. The South Carolina Constitution provides similar protection against unreasonable searches and seizures and unreasonable invasions of privacy. S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. A search compromises the individual interest in privacy; a seizure deprives the individual of dominion over his or her person or property. Brown, 401 S.C. at 88, 736 S.E.2d at 266; State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 327 (2011) (quoting Horton v. California, 496 U.S. 128, 133 (1990)). The Fourth Amendment itself provides no remedy for a violation of the warrant requirement. Davis v. United States, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 131 S.Ct. 2419 (2011). However, the United States Supreme Court has fashioned a judicially-created remedy, the exclusionary rule, which is a deterrent sanction by which the prosecution is barred from introducing evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment. Davis, 131 S.Ct. at 2423; Brown, 401 S.C. at 88, 736 S.E.2d at 266. Warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable absent a recognized exception to the warrant requirement. Brown, 401 S.C. at 89, 736 S.E.2d at 266; Wright, 391 S.C. at 442, 706 S.E.2d at 327. These exceptions include the following: (1) search incident to a lawful arrest, (2) hot pursuit, (3) stop and frisk, (4) automobile exception, (5) the plain view doctrine, (6) consent, and (7) abandonment. Brown, 401 S.C. at 89, 736 S.E.2d at 266; State v. Dupree, 319 S.C. 454, 456, 462 S.E.2d 279, 287 (1995); State v. Moore, 377 S.C. 299, 309, 659 S.E.2d 256, 261 (Ct. App. 2008). Where the accused voluntarily consents

to give a biological sample to law enforcement without any limitation on the scope of his consent, it extinguishes his expectation of privacy in that sample. McCord, 349 S.C. at 485, 562 S.E.2d at 693.

#### Consent to Search and Provide DNA Sample

Appellant contends he did not consent to provide a sample of his DNA because the totality of the circumstances shows he did not knowingly and voluntarily waive his privacy rights in his DNA profile. The State disagrees.

Whether consent to search was voluntary or the product of duress or coercion, express or implied, is a question of fact to be determined from the totality of the circumstances. State v. Wallace, 269 S.C. 547, 550, 238 S.E.2d 675, 676 (1977); State v. Mattison, 352 S.C. 577, 584, 575 S.E.2d 852, 855 (Ct. App. 2003). The State bears the burden of establishing the voluntariness of the consent. Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218 (1973); Mattison, 352 S.C. at 584, 575 S.E.2d at 855. The “totality of the circumstances” test applies whether the consent was given in a non-custodial or custodial situation. Wallace, 269 S.C. at 550, 238 S.E.2d at 676; Mattison, 352 S.C. at 584, 575 S.E.2d at 855. In a custodial situation, the custodial setting is a factor to be considered in determining whether consent was voluntarily given. Wallace, 269 S.C. at 552, 238 S.E.2d at 677; Mattison, 352 S.C. at 584, 575 S.E.2d at 855. Custody alone, however, is not enough in itself to demonstrate a coerced consent to search. Mattison, 352 S.C. at 584, 575 S.E.2d at 855; State v. Brannon, 347 S.C. 85, 90, 552 S.E.2d 773, 775 (Ct. App. 2001).

The issue of voluntary consent, when contested by contradicting testimony, is an issue of credibility to be determined by the trial judge. Mattison, 352 S.C. at 584-85, 575

S.E.2d at 856; State v. Dorce, 320 S.C. 480, 482, 465 S.E.2d 772, 773 (Ct. App. 1995).

A trial judge's conclusions on issues of fact regarding voluntariness will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to be an abuse of discretion. Mattison, 352 S.C. at 585, 575 S.E.2d at 856; State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 247 (1990) (dealing with voluntariness of a statement); State v. Greene, 330 S.C. 551, 557, 499 S.E.2d 817, 820 (Ct. App. 1997).

At the suppression hearing, Deputy Carwell testified he read the DNA consent form to Appellant, after which Appellant signed the form and provided a swab from his mouth as a DNA sample. On the form Appellant acknowledges: "This written permission, is being given be me, to the above named Investigator, freely, voluntarily, and without threats or promises of any kind." (R.p.341; R.p.343). Carwell testified he did not make any promises to Appellant about what would happen if he provided the DNA sample and did not threaten or coerce him into giving consent. He testified Appellant understood what was being asked of him in providing the DNA sample and did not appear to be under the influence of any drugs or alcohol. (R.p.71, line 19-p.76, line 17). On cross-examination, Carwell acknowledged Appellant was sixteen years old when he gave consent but explained that regardless of the age of a suspect there was no requirement or internal policy to get parents involved before seeking consent for a DNA sample.<sup>6</sup> (R.p.78, line 1-p.81, line 11).

Appellant testified that when he gave the DNA sample in 2010 Carwell never told him they were going to put his DNA profile in the DNA lab in Richland County, or that they were going to store his DNA, and claimed if they had told him, he would not have

---

<sup>6</sup> While age is an appropriate factor to consider in determining whether an accused gave voluntary consent, the ultimate determination is based on a consideration of the totality of the circumstances. U.S. v. Boone, 245 F.3d 352 (4th Cir. 2001).

given the sample. (R.p.84 lines 2-25). However, on cross-examination, Appellant acknowledged his signature on the DNA form and admitted the form said nothing about the sample being used only for the 2010 case, or about the sample being destroyed after the initial comparison. (R.p.85, line 5-p.99, line 17). Appellant never claimed he was promised the DNA would not be stored or used for other purposes, offered no testimony to suggest he felt threatened or coerced to consent, and never claimed his age, maturity, education, intelligence or lack of experience rendered his decision involuntary.

The trial court denied Appellant's motion to suppress and ruled the DNA results were admissible because Appellant consented to give the sample in 2010. (R.p.103, line 18-p.114, line 21). Based on the existence of evidence in the record, particularly the signed consent form, the State submits there was no abuse of discretion in the trial court's ruling that Appellant's consent was voluntarily given. It was a conclusion of fact determined from the totality of the circumstances which was not manifestly erroneous; therefore, the State submits it should be affirmed. Rochester, supra; Mattison, supra.

#### Scope of Search: Retention and Use of DNA Profile

At trial Appellant also maintained that even if he did voluntarily consent to initially give the DNA sample, the Sheriff's Department exceeded the permissible scope of consent when it kept the DNA profile in an in-house database and later used it to match him to the crime scene. The State disagrees.

Under our state constitution suspects are free to limit the scope of the searches to which they consent. State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 648, 541 S.E.2d 837, 843 (2001); State v. Funderburk, 367 S.C. 236, 240, 625 S.E.2d 248, 250 (Ct. App. 2006); Mattison, 352 S.C. at 585, 575 S.E.2d at 856. When relying on the consent of a suspect, a police

officer's search must not exceed the scope of the consent granted or the search becomes unreasonable. Forrester, 343 S.C. at 648, 541 S.E.2d at 843; Funderburk, 367 S.C. at 240, 625 S.E.2d at 250; Mattison, 352 S.C. at 585, 575 S.E.2d at 856. Even in a situation where police have received a general and unqualified consent, “ ‘the police do not have carte blanche to do whatever they please.’” Forrester, 343 S.C. at 648-49, 541 S.E.2d at 843 (quoting 3 Wayne R. LaFave, *Search and Seizure* § 8.1(c), at 612 (3d ed. 1996)). The scope of the consent is measured by a test of “‘objective’ reasonableness - what would the typical reasonable person have understood by the exchange between the officer and the suspect?” Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 251 (1991); Mattison, 352 S.C. at 585-86, 575 S.E.2d at 856.

At the suppression hearing, Carwell did not give Appellant any kind of qualifications about how the DNA sample would be used, kept, or maintained, or what it would be compared against. (R.p.71, line 19-p.76, line 17). He testified he made no promises about what the Sheriff's Department would do with Appellant's DNA profile after the conclusion of the investigation or that they would destroy the DNA profile if it did not match anything in the 2010 burglary investigation. (R.p.82, lines 3-23). Indeed, Carwell testified the point of seeking Appellant's DNA was both to compare it to items from the 2010 burglary AND to enter it into the database. (R.p.83, lines 1-7).

Appellant testified that when he gave the DNA sample in 2010 Carwell never told him they were going to put his DNA profile in the DNA lab in Richland County, or that they were going to store his DNA, and claimed if they had told him, he would not have given the sample. (R.p.84, lines 2-25). However, on cross-examination, Appellant acknowledged his signature on the DNA form and admitted the form said nothing about

the sample being used only for the 2010 case or about the sample being destroyed after the initial comparison. (R.p.85, line 5-p.86, line 17). Appellant never claimed he was promised the DNA would not be stored or used for other purposes.

The trial court denied Appellant's motion to suppress and ruled the DNA results were admissible because Appellant consented to give the sample in 2010. (R.p.103, line 18-p.114, line 21). The State submits the trial court did not err in denying the motion to suppress because evidence exists to support this finding. The record indicates Appellant imposed no limits on the scope of the search he granted when he signed the consent to search form. On the form he says: "I am aware that any evidence obtained as a result of this search can be used against me in a court of law." The State submits that a reasonable person would have understood that consent to encompass the Sheriff Department's retention and possible future use of the DNA sample.

Appellant argues McCord, *supra*, supports his position because the federal written consent form at issue contained broader language than the Sheriff Department's waiver in Appellant's case. In particular, the federal form noted the blood sample could be used "for whatever purpose the Violent Crime Task Force Department may see fit." Appellant contends that without this additional language the consent form in his case was not broad enough to extend his consent beyond testing for the 2010 burglary. The State disagrees and submits Appellant has misconstrued McCord. The compelling portion of both the federal form and the consent form in Appellant's case includes language that the evidence may be used against the accused in court. In addition, neither form puts limitations on the scope of consent. The federal form may be stronger due to the additional language about use of the sample, but both forms demonstrate a grant of

consent without limitations on use. Again, under a totality of circumstances this evidence supports the trial court's determination, and that determination should be affirmed.

#### Withdrawal of Consent

Appellant suggests he effectively withdrew his contractual consent when he failed to ratify it upon reaching the age of majority.<sup>7</sup> However, as explained above, Appellant gave written consent for the Sheriff to take his DNA, placed no limits on the scope of that consent, and made no statement or act to withdraw that consent. Conduct falling short of "an unequivocal act or statement of withdrawal" is not sufficiently indicative of an intent to withdraw consent. Mattison, 352 S.C. at 587, 575 S.E.2d at 858; United States v. Alfaro, 935 F.2d 64, 67 (5th Cir. 1991). Effective withdrawal of consent to search requires unequivocal conduct, in the form of either an act, statement or some combination of the two that is inconsistent with consent previously given. Mattison, 352 S.C. at 585, 575 S.E.2d at 858; Burton v. United States, 657 A.2d 741 (D.C. 1994). The State submits Appellant's failure to ratify his previously given consent when he turned eighteen falls far short of an unequivocal act or statement of withdrawal. See Mattison, 352 S.C. at 585, 575 S.E.2d at 858 (holding Mattison's act of lowering his hands as the officer searched his groin area fell short of an unequivocal act or statement of withdrawal).

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